SUPREME COURT NO. 9048-5

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

CYNTHIA LUSEBRINK,



Plaintiff/Appellant,

VS.

KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Defendant/Respondent.

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT NO. 10-2-10370-8 KNT Court of Appeals – Division I Case No.: 69348-4-I

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

VAN SICLEN, STOCKS, & FIRKINS Tyler K. Firkins Neal Kingsley Attorneys for Appellant 721 45th St NE Auburn, WA 98002-1381 (253) 859-8899

e-mail:

tfirkins@vansiclen.com nkingsley@vansiclen.com

ORIGINAL

1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER:

Plaintiff Cynthia Lusebrink seeks review of the Supreme Court of the State of Washington. .

2. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Lusebrink v. Kent School Dist., 2014 WL 645364, 2 (Wn.App.

Div. 1, 2014) Attached as Appendix A.

3. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether an employer has a duty to *reassign* an employee once it has "made known" a position and determined that the employee is qualified to fill the vacant position that accommodates the employee's disability.

4. INTRODUCTION

This case asks whether under the WLAD an employer has a duty to reassign a disabled employee to a vacant position for which she is qualified.

The Court of Appeals held that requiring an employer to actually reassign an employee is "preferential" treatment, and is impermissible. Instead, an employer is only required to "make known" open positions, and "consider" the disabled employee, along with all other qualified candidates. However, the Court of Appeals renders the word "reassign"

meaningless by its decision. This Court should accept review to prevent further discrimination and to clarify what is meant by the term "reassign."

5. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background Facts.

Cynthia Lusebrink was employed by the Kent School District for 12 years. VRP July 16, 2013 at 14. Ms. Lusebrink has been a public teacher for twenty-one years. *Id.* at 14-15. She had a difficult but rewarding job working with high school special education students. *Id.* at 17. Ms. Lusebrink had always received excellent evaluations in both special and general education classrooms. *Id.* at 68.

Special education students she worked with had difficulty communicating and sometimes would lash out physically in frustration. *Id.* at 17. They would bite, hit, kick, and sometimes throw chairs. *Id.* On one occasion, Ms. Lusebrink was thrown against a wall by a student. *Id.* She was required by the District to intervene in these circumstances, using physical restraint on students. *Id.* at 19. Included in this requirement is the necessity of occasionally physically lifting students in wheelchairs. *Id.*

Around September, 2005, Ms. Lusebrink was diagnosed with a large tumor on her liver. *Id.* at 20. She had surgery to remove the tumor in November of 2005. *Id.* The surgery was a 73% liver resection. *Id.* Ms. Lusebrink returned to work in February of 2006, part time, and full time in

April. *Id.* at 20-21. During the 2006-2007 school year, the District accommodated Ms. Lusebrink by making sure she had an aide and not requiring that she lift anything weighing more than ten pounds. *Id.* at 23. Regardless, Ms. Lusebrink was still able to perform the functions of her job as a special educator, including physically restraining students. *Id.* at 25-26.

In January of 2007, Ms. Lusebrink was injured on the job when she was transferring a special education student. *Id.* at 27. It was part of the curriculum for students to learn how to ride the bus, so a field trip was scheduled for downtown Seattle. *Id.* at 26. Ms. Lusebrink requested a bus from the District with a wheelchair lift, but a regular bus was sent instead. *Id.* Rather than cancel the trip, Ms. Lusebrink and a student helper colifted the student's wheelchair onto the bus. *Id.* During the process, the student helper tripped and put the entire weight on Ms. Lusebrink. *Id.* She heard a popping sound, but continued with her duties for several months afterwards. *Id.* at 27.

She reported the injury to her supervisors and her co-workers. *Id.* Ms. Lusebrink subsequently learned that she had developed an umbilical hernia at the surgery site as a result of the on-the-job injury. *Id.* at 28. She had the site repaired on July 31, 2007. *Id.* at 29.

B. The District did not accommodate Ms. Lusebrink.

By February of 2008, Ms. Lusebrink was ready to return to work on a light duty basis in a general education classroom. *Id.* at 35. She was advised by her physician, Dr. Kimberly Herner, that she should not return to her special education teacher position. *Id.* There were no available light duty positions open, however, and Ms. Lusebrink was maintained on a long-term disability status. *Id.*

In February of 2008, Mike McNett, Ms. Lusebrink's union representative, alerted the District to the fact that Ms. Lusebrink would be requiring a reasonable accommodation. VRP July 17, 2031 at 78-80. Larry Minor, the District's Director of Human Resources, acknowledged that Ms. Lusebrink was requesting an accommodation, but appears to have done nothing until at least May of 2008. *Id.* at 81-82, 89. In fact, had Ms. Lusebrink returned to work in May of 2008, there would not have even been a special educator teacher position for her to return to. *Id.* at 86.

Ms. Lusebrink nonetheless later received an assignment back to a special education position. VRP July 16, 2013 at 64, 74; VRP July 17, 2013 at 91. This assignment would have been contrary to Ms. Lusebrink's known medical limitations because it potentially involved children who acted out violently. VRP July 16, 2013 at 64; VRP July 17, 2013 at 90. District administrators admitted that they were aware of Ms. Lusebrink's

limitations and had received copies of correspondence from Ms. Lusebrink's physician explaining her disabilities. VRP July 19, 2013 at 9-10. In a specific undated letter that was likely written on May 14, 2008, Ms. Lusebrink's physician stated that the plaintiff could not work anymore as a special education teacher. VRP July 16, 2013 at 50; Trial Exhibit 12. Thereafter, she was offered a special education position.

On June 9, 2008, Ms. Lusebrink met with Kent School officials Larry Miner (Director of Human Resources), Keith Klug (Risk Management), and Kimberly Halley (Director of Special Education), and with Kent Education Association (KEA) union representatives Lisa Brackin-Johnson (KEA President), and Mike McNett (Washington Education Association Uniserv Representative). VRP July 16, 2013 at 61. At the meeting the parties discussed Dr. Kimberly Herner's letter of May 14, 2008, permitting Ms. Lusebrink to return to work with restrictions pertaining to lifting or being exposed to physical trauma. *Id.* at 65. During this meeting, the District indicated a willingness to place Ms. Lusebrink in a future opening that would meet the conditions stated by Dr. Herner. CP Id. at 72. However, the District never actually followed through with a placement, and Mr. Klug testified that he was unaware that Ms. Lusebrink had applied for a position for which she was qualified. VRP July 19, 2013 at 29.

After the June meeting, Ms. Lusebrink applied for a number of open positions for which she was qualified, and that met her limitations, within the District. VRP July 16, 2013 at 87. One opening was for a Teacher on Special Assignment (TOSA) – Special Services (i.e. Special Education) position¹, and the other was for a position outside her bargaining unit in payroll. *Id.* at 79, 85-86. On each occasion, the District failed to return Ms. Lusebrink to active employment; even stating in a telephone conversation in October from Kimberly Halley, ". . . even though you are qualified for the TOSA position, the committee chose to go with another applicant." *Id.* at 82, 87.

Mr. Klug testified that while he thought he had assigned a human resources person to assist Ms. Lusebrink, he could not recall who. No witness testified that they offered any assistance to Ms. Lusebrink. Ms. Lusebrink testified that she looked for positions on the District website and applied for appropriate jobs without any assistance from the District. *Id.* at 86-87; 90.

The District then sent a letter to Ms. Lusebrink dated October 8, 2008 demanding her resignation. *Id.* at 82. Ms. Lusebrink refused. On December 5, 2008, the District fired Ms. Lusebrink, an employee injured on the job who was just trying to go back to work. *Id.* at 87. At no time

¹ This is a position where the TOSA coaches classroom teachers, provides assistance in paperwork, and assists in creating lesson plans.

between the meeting in June of 2008 and December 5, 2008 did anyone from the District ever contact Ms. Lusebrink with available positions or to inquire regarding any changes in her health restrictions. *Id.* at 90. The District never spoke to her physician or met with Ms. Lusebrink again. Instead, it fired her as the final interactive process.

C. The Jury Instructions.

Both parties submitted various proposed jury instructions to the trial court. In particular controversy was the court's instruction regarding disability accommodation that became Instruction 11, which read in relevant part,

That the Kent School District failed to take affirmative measures to help her find and apply for another position, such as making known such job opportunities to her, and determining whether she was in fact qualified for those positions.

CP 1348. This instruction erroneously asserted that accommodations included passive conduct that would not result in an accommodation.

The instruction also demonstrably confused the jury. During deliberation, the jury asked,

"What is the definition of "affirmative" as used in instruction 11(3)?"

Appendix 1.

The court responded,

The jury is to give the word its ordinary meaning in light of the evidence in the case and in consideration of the court's instructions as a whole.

Id. The ordinary meaning of "affirmative" is:

- 1. affirming or assenting; asserting the truth, validity, or fact of something.
- 2. expressing agreement or consent; assenting: an affirmative reply.
- 3. positive; not negative.
- 4. Logic . noting a proposition in which a property of a subject is affirmed, as "All men are happy."

See Dictionary.com.

The trial court's explanation thus failed to alert the jury that the District had a positive duty to take actual and effective steps to accommodate Ms. Lusebrink, such as actually transferring her into an open position that she was qualified to fill.

The jury returned a verdict in favor of the defendant. CP 1475-77. Plaintiff moved for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict because the District had not presented any evidence of an affirmative act it undertook to accommodate Ms. Lusebrink. CP 1417-31. Plaintiff's motion was denied. CP 1457. Ms. Lusebrink timely appealed. CP 1478-93.

6. LAW AND ARGUMENT

Review should be accepted in this case because under RAP 13.4(b), considerations 2 and 3 apply – the decision of Division 1 is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court. Also, this petition involves

an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court—disability discrimination in Washington.

A. Division 1 parsed and ignored relevant Supreme Court precedent to arrive at its erroneous decision.

The exercise undertaken by both the trial court and Division 1 demonstrate the need for this Court to clarify the employer's obligations as it relates to job reassignment where the employee actually seeks reassignment to a specific vacant position for which she is qualified. The trial court and Division 1 held that the employer has no duty to reassign even when the employee is qualified to fill a vacant position.

In its decision, Division 1 first relies on the case of *Davis v*. *Microsoft*, 109 Wn.App. 884, 37 P.3d 333 (2002), for the proposition that passive conduct is an accommodation. However, *Davis* examines a different temporal issue in the accommodation process. Mr. Davis never actually applied for or found a job that would accommodate his disability. The argument was whether Microsoft needed to determine whether the positions it was suggesting would accommodate his disability before it sent him in for an interview.

Here, the plaintiff actually found jobs that would accommodate her disability, and then applied for them. She found them on her own, applied for them like any other candidate, and was not hired despite her qualifications. This case then asks a different question than the *Davis* case.

Division 1 also dismisses *Dean v. Municipality of Metropolitan*Seattle-Metro, 104 Wn.2d 627, 708 P.2d 393 (1985), as irrelevant. In so doing, the Court derisively contends that the plaintiff is seeking preferential treatment. See Decision at 13. This blustering assertion is obviously wrong and beside the point. The accommodation process does require "preferential" treatment as to all other job applicants. In fact that is the precise point of the *Dean* case—a disabled employee cannot be treated like every other job applicant. Beyond dismissing *Dean*, Division 1 fails to explain how *Dean* does not apply.

Next Division 1 dismisses as irrelevant this Court's holding in *Clarke v. Shoreline School District No. 412*, 106 Wn.2d 102, 720 P.3d 793 (1986), by misconstruing its import and by ignoring the facts in this case. First, Division 1 makes much of the words "non-teaching position." However, the term was not intended to become a legal principle, but rather was of factual import to the case in *Clarke*

The hearing officer in *Clarke* found that the School District *did* consider Clarke for teaching positions within the District, but that Clarke was not qualified to teach in the available positions due to his lack of academic training. The court in *Clarke* further noted that the hearing

officer considered whether it was the District's policy to consider persons such as Clarke for nonteaching positions. According to the hearing officer,

[i]f that is the district's policy and appellant met all jobrelated qualifications for such non-teaching positions, the district would be required to take affirmative action to continue appellant ... in a non-teaching capacity and make all reasonable accommodations to him in such a job ...

Id. at 122. To which this Court ruled:

Given the previous discussion of *Dean*, this conclusion accurately reflects the law in Washington, except to the extent the hearing officer made availability of a transfer to a nonteaching position dependent upon a school district policy. Policy or no policy, we believe the Law Against Discrimination, RCW 49.60.180, as interpreted by this court in *Dean*, requires the School District to transfer Clarke to a nonteaching position, if such a position exists and Clarke is qualified to perform it. Because Clarke has not yet sought a nonteaching position with the School District, he has established no discrimination under *Dean*.

Id. at 120-122.

Unlike Mr. Clarke, Ms. Lusebrink applied for both teaching and non-teaching positions for which she was qualified on her own initiative. The positions were vacant, yet the District refused to assign her to any of the vacant positions. VRP July 17, 2013 at 83; July 23, 2013 at 56. Instead, the District fired Ms. Lusebrink. VRP July 16, 2013 at 87.

In the end, the de-construction of this Court's prior holdings by Division 1 is still not of sufficient importance to this Court on a policy basis that it should grant review. Rather, it is the lack of any clear explanation of the employer's duty beyond "making known" positions and determining qualifications. The real question that was presented in this case is whether the defendant must actually transfer or assign the employee into vacant positions, or simply "make the positions known" and let the disabled employee compete with all the other job applicants. This case then presents this Court with the opportunity to clearly state Washington's position on this point which has caused a great deal of confusion for employers and employees alike.

Interestingly, Division 1 states in its opinion that "our Supreme Court has not adopted the federal position that reassignment is mandatory." Opinion at 15. The Court thereafter goes on to misconstrue the plaintiff's argument on appeal, and holds that an employer has no duty to reassign. The point however is clear that there is no Washington case that clearly identifies the employer's duty once an employee finds and applies for vacant positions that would accommodate her disability.

As it stands, the law apparently allows employers to simply "make known" open positions, and then to "consider" the disabled employee. Neither act results in accommodation. This case affords this Court a clear opportunity to clarify Washington law on this point. It also affords this Court the opportunity to prevent discrimination.

B. Federal law requires employers to actually reassign employees into vacant positions.

As persuasive authority,² federal courts hold that reassignment does not mean competing with other qualified candidates for open positions. As the D.C. Circuit has explained:

[T]he word "reassign" must mean more than allowing an employee to apply for a job on the same basis as anyone else. An employee who on his own initiative applies for and obtains a job elsewhere in the enterprise would not be described as having been "reassigned"; the core word "assign" implies some active effort on the part of the employer.

Aka v. Washington Hosp. Center, 156 F.3d 1284, 1304-1305 (C.A.D.C., 1998); see also Smith v. Midland Brake, Inc., 180 F.3d 1154, 1164 - 1165 (10th Cir. 1999).

This Court in *Pulcino v. Federal Express Corp.*, 141 Wn.2d 629, 9 P.3d 787 (2000), ruled that "reassignment" is one method of accommodation. When an employee bases a claim on the employer's failure to reassign to a different position, the employee must prove that he or she was qualified to fill a vacant position, and that the employer failed to take affirmative measures to make such job opportunity known to the

² Washington courts have previously noted that federal law is instructive with regard to our state discrimination laws. *Dedman v. Pers. Appeals Bd.*, 98 Wn.App. 471, 478, 989 P.2d 1214 (1999). Additionally, this Court has previously used definitions given by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission to define the ADA when deciding questions of Washington discrimination law. *Davis v. Microsoft Corp.*, 149 Wn.2d 521, 70 P.3d 126 (2003).

employee and to determine whether the employee was in fact qualified for such position. *Id.* at 644.

The problem with the recitation in *Pulcino* as identified in *Aka v*. *Washington Hosp. Center* is that it fails to describe the employer's duty after it has made known a position for which the employee is qualified and the employee seeks to fill the position. Washington law currently does not address this issue except by implication.

To prevent discrimination this Court must clarify that reassignment does not mean an open application process, whereby the employee is permitted to apply for an open position—a right already guaranteed to the employee. Federal cases require the employer to "reassign", whereas *Pulcino* seems to only require the employer to "make known" and "consider" disabled employees. Such a requirement, as the *Aka* court noted is meaningless.

Making applicants generally aware of job openings is a necessary prerequisite for any employer to get job applicants. Here the defendant made the plaintiff "aware" of the open TOSA position by posting it on the internet. It also made the position known to the other candidates that applied at the same time. Thereafter, as it was required to do under both state and federal law, the defendant "considered" the plaintiff's job application. Had the defendant refused to consider the plaintiff's job

application, then the plaintiff would have had a claim under state and federal law for disability discrimination in the employment process.

For the holding in *Pulcino* to have any meaning, this Court must clarify that the employer has a positive duty to actually reassign the employee to a vacant position, not simply allow the employee to do what she is already entitled to do. Thus, the holding in *Pulcino* is relevant to the employer's duty at an earlier time period—the time before the employee seeks a vacant position. No Washington case has yet addressed an employer's duty as to the reassignment process once an employee is determined to be qualified for a vacant position.

C. Jury Instruction 11 is erroneous and fails to prevent discrimination.

The trial court erroneously instructed the jury on the District's affirmative requirement to actually reassign Ms. Lusebrink once it found a vacant position for which Ms. Lusebrink was qualified. The Court reviews jury instructions de novo, "and an instruction that contains an erroneous statement of the applicable law is reversible error where it prejudices a party." *Thompson v. King Feed & Nutrition Serv., Inc.,* 153 Wn.2d 447, 453, 105 P.3d 378 (2005). The trial court here clearly misstated the law.

The trial court instructed the jury that the District had a duty to take "affirmative steps" to accommodate Ms. Lusebrink's disability, but

then listed passive conduct as examples. CP 1348. During deliberation, the jury asked, "What is the definition of "affirmative" as used in instruction 11(3)?" Appendix 1. The Court answered that "affirmative" had its ordinary meaning, thus failing to provide any clarification. *Id*.

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