RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Apr 18, 2014, 2:57 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

REC SUPREME COURT NO. 40048-5

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

CYNTHIA LUSEBRINK

Petitioner,

vs.

KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent,

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT No. 10-2-10370-8 KNT COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I No. 69348-4-1

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JERRY J. MOBERG, WSBA No. 5282 PATRICK R. MOBERG, WSBA 41323 JERRY MOBERG & ASSOCIATES, P.S. Attorneys for Respondent Kent School District P.O. Box 130 – 124 3rd Avenue S.W. Ephrata, WA 98823 (509) 754-2356

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

Ms. Lusebrink's representation that Division I relied on *Davis* "for the proposition that passive conduct is an accommodation" is simply wrong. Division I in this case relied on this Court's decision in *Davis* that it is for the jury to decide whether an employer took reasonable steps to accommodate a disabled employee. As Division I put it: "Under *Davis*, 149 Wn.2d at 538, [the jury instruction] was correct because it allowed the jury to decide whether or not the district took 'affirmative steps' that amounted to a reasonable accommodation." *Lusebrink*, 2014 WL 645364 at *5.

Ms. Lusebrink argues that *Davis* should be ignored because it "examines a different temporal issue in the accommodation process" as the employee in *Davis* never applied for a job. (Pet. Rev. at 9.) Whether an employee applies for an open position or does not apply for an open position has no bearing on the issue of who is to decide whether the district took affirmative steps that amounted to a reasonable accommodation. *Davis* clearly states it is for the jury to decide. The fact that a disabled employee was or was not interviewed for an open position may weigh on jury's decision of whether reasonable accommodation was achieved. However, it does not prevent the jury as the fact finder from deciding the issue. In this case, Ms. Lusebrink was interviewed for an open position. This fact likely helped the jury decided that the District's efforts were reasonable.

Dean v. Metropolitan Seattle-Metro - Ms. Lusebrink stated in her petition for review: "Division I dismisses Dean v. Metropolitan Seattle-Metro, 104 Wn.2d 627, 708 P.2d 393 (1985) as irrelevant." (Pet. Rev. at 10.) In reality, Division I dismissed Ms. Lusebrink's "implicit" reading of Dean. Because there is no precedent in Washington stating that the law requires employers to assign disabled employees to open positions above more qualified applicants, Ms. Lusebrink argued on appeal that this nonexistent mandatory legal duty was "implicit" in Dean. Lusebrink, 2014 WL 645364 at *4. As pointed at *3 of the opinion of Division I, the actual and explicit holding in Dean is:

We hold that to make a prima facie case of handicap discrimination an employee plaintiff must prove that he or she is handicapped, that he or she had the qualification required to fill vacant positions and that the employer failed to take affirmative measures to make known such job opportunities to the employee and to determine whether the employee was in fact qualified for those positions. *Dean*, 104 Wn.2d at 639. As part of the holding, this Court explained that the employee "need only prove . . .that he was qualified for available positions for which he applied. [The employer] could in its turn prove [the employee] was less qualified than those hired to fill . . . existing vacancies." In *Dean*, this Court agreed that the employer "had no duty to create a job for Dean or to hire him in preference to a more qualified employee." *Dean*, 104 Wn.2d at 634. Ms. Lusebrink argued her theory of the case at trial but the jury sided with the District. Division I upheld the jury's verdict when it decided, in line with *Dean*, that there was substantial evidence to support the District's affirmative steps to accommodate Ms. Lusebrink.

Clarke v. Shoreline School Dist. No. 412 -- Ms. Lusebrink asserted: "Division I dismisses as irrelevant this Court's holding in *Clarke* v. Shoreline School Dist. No. 412, 106 Wn.2d 102, 720 P.3d 793 (1986)." However, *Clarke's* holding expressly rejected the theory of mandatory reassignment that Ms. Lusebrink's claims to be implicit in *Dean*. This Court stated in *Clarke* at 120-21:

Dean does not require the School District to create a position for Clarke for which he is not qualified, or to hire Clarke over a more qualified person. However, Dean does require the School District to take affirmative steps to help Clarke fill a position within the School District, if such a position exists and Clarke is qualified to fill it. (Emphasis added.) *Clarke* reinforces the requirement expressed in *Dean* that affirmative steps require an employer "to make known such job opportunities to the employee and to determine whether the employee was in fact qualified for those positions." *Dean*, 104 Wn.2d at 639. Ms. Lusebrink misinterprets *Clarke* in claiming that the law *requires* the District to reassign her, as a matter of law, above other qualified candidates.

B. Ms. Lusebrink's Petition for Review should be denied because there is no issue of substantial public interest.

The second basis for Ms. Lusebrink petition is based upon an alleged "substantial public interest." Ms. Lusebrink argued that this Court must reverse its previous precedent under the WLAD to provide her a new trial. Ms. Lusebrink wants employers to be required, as a matter of law, to reassign a disabled employee to open positions over more qualified applicants. Ms. Lusebrink apparently concedes that the opinion by Division I in this case -- rejecting of her appeal -- was a correct application of the law as it currently exists in Washington. Ms. Lusebrink stated: "The real question that was presented in this case is whether the [District] must actually transfer or assign the employee to a vacant position, or simply 'make positions known' and the let disabled employee compete with all other job applicants." (Pet. Rev. at 12.)

Ms. Lusebrink invites this Court to legislate from the bench and overturn years of precedent interpreting the WLAD to hold that employers have a mandatory duty to reassign a disabled employee to an open position over more qualified candidates.

.

1. Ms. Lusebrink's reliance on a federal decision interpreting the American with Disabilities Act is not a basis for this Court to legislate from the bench, violate the Separation of Powers Doctrine and overturn years of precedent interpreting this state's disability law.

Ms. Lusebrink primary argument for a drastic change to Washington's disability law is based upon a single federal decision, *Aka v. Washington Hosp. Center*, 156 F.3d 1284 (D.C. Cir. 1998), which interpreted federal disability law under the ADA. (Four circuit judges dissented from the majority opinion in *Aka.*)^{*I*} The D.C. Circuit relied upon the definition of "qualified individual" under the ADA. Responding to the employer's argument that preferential reassignment is not mandatory under the ADA, the *Aka* court stated that the definition of "qualified individual" under the approximation of "qualified individual" the definition of "stated that the definition of the reassignment of a disabled employee who can no longer perform the essential functions of his original job:

¹ The employer "was under no duty to afford Aka a hiring preference — because of his disability – over a more qualified, non-disabled applicant." 156 F.3d at 1311. (Henderson, J., dissenting, joined by three other circuit judges.)

[The employer's] argument misreads the statute. Section 12111(8) [of the ADA] defines an "otherwise qualified individual with a disability" to mean someone who "with or without reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions of the employment position that such individual holds or desires." An employee seeking reassignment to a vacant position is thus within the definition if, with or without reasonable accommodation, she can perform the essential functions of the employment position to which she seeks reassignment.

Aka, 156 F.3d at 1300-01 (D.C. Cir., 1998). (Emphasis in the original.) The Aka court's decision was based on the ADA's definition of a qualified individual, which provides in part: "The term 'qualified individual' means an individual who, with or without reasonable accommodation, can perform the essential functions of the employment position that such individual holds or desires." 42 U.S.C. § 12111(8). This definition distinguishes Aka from the WLAD.

The WLAD, RCW Ch. 49.60, does not include the phrase "qualified individual with a disability" or any definition similar to the one listed above. Under Washington disability law, the WLAD provides a definition for "disabled." Included in this definition are portions related to when a person seeks a reasonable accommodation from an employer. RCW 49.60.040(7)(d) and (e). As noted by Division I in this case, the Washington Administrative Code further defines what can be a reasonable accommodation under WLAD for an employer. WAC 162–22–065(2)(c).

Because the *Aka* decision is rooted within the language of federal ADA legislation that is not present in Washington's disability laws, Ms. Lusebrink invites this Court to legislate from the bench by adding language to the WLAD. Such action is loathed under the separation of powers doctrine essential to Washington's democracy. *Public Utility Dist. No. 2 of Grant County v. North American Foreign Trade Zone Industries, LLC*, 159 Wn.2d 555, 579, 151 P.3d 176 (2007) ("It is the duty of this court to uphold and enforce the constitution, not to legislate from the bench.").

Moreover, *Aka* is not followed by several other federal circuits. *See, e.g., Huber v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.,* 486 F.3d 480, 483 (8th Cir. 2007)("the ADA is not an affirmative action statute and does not require an employer to reassign a qualified disabled employee to a vacant position when such a reassignment would violate a legitimate nondiscriminatory policy of the employer to hire the most qualified candidate"); *dismissing cert.* 552 U.S. 1136, 128 S.Ct. 1116, 169 L.Ed.2d 801 (2008);² *Daugherty v. City of El Paso,* 56 F.3d 695, 700 (5th Cir. 1995)("we do not read the ADA as requiring affirmative action in favor of individuals with

² The *Huber* court stated at 483, n. 2: "*Aka v. Washington Hospital Center* . . . does not hold the ADA requires an employer to place a disabled employee in a position while passing over more qualified applicants. Rather, *Aka* only rejects an "interpretation of the reassignment provision as mandating nothing more than

disabilities, in the sense of requiring that disabled persons be given priority in hiring or reassignment over those who are not disabled"), *cert. denied* 516 U.S. 1172, 116 S.Ct. 1263, 134 L.Ed.2d 211 (1996); *Hedrick v. W. Reserve Care Sys.*, 355 F.3d 444, 459 (6th Cir. 2004)("Although [the employer] may have had an obligation to reassign her to a vacant position for which she was qualified, the ADA does not mandate that she be afforded preferential treatment"), *cert. denied* 543 U.S. 817, 125 S.Ct. 68, 160 L.Ed.2d 25 (2004); *Terrell v. USAir*, 132 F.3d 621, 627 (11th Cir. 1998)("We cannot accept that Congress, in enacting the ADA, intended to grant preferential treatment for disabled workers"); *Wernick v. Fed. Reserve Bank of N.Y.*, 91 F.3d 379, 384-85 (2d Cir. 1996)(the employer "did not have an affirmative duty to provide [the employee] with a job for which she was qualified; [the employer] only had an obligation to treat [the employee] in the same manner that it treated other similarly situated candidates").

This Court should not accept Ms. Lusebrink's invitation to legislate from the bench and overturn the line of cases holding that an employer does not have a mandatory legal duty to reassign a disabled employee to an open position over hiring a more qualified applicant.

that the employer allow the disabled employee to submit his application along with other candidates." [156 F.3d] at 1305."

2. Ms. Lusebrink's reliance on a federal decision interpreting the ADA should not be allowed because it was not part of her appeal.

This Court should bar Ms. Lusebrink from obtaining discretionary

review on a theory not argued until oral argument.

[I]t would be unfair to the district to consider the federal cases as instructive authority. Lusebrink did not cite the federal cases in her briefing, nor did she argue that Washington law should be changed to become consistent with federal case law.

Lusebrink, 2014 WL 645364 at *7.

The circuit court decision in *Aka* was decided in 1998. If Ms. Lusebrink intended to argue for alignment between the WLAD and the ADA then such a position was available to her during trial and in her appeal. However, Ms. Lusebrink did not cite this federal law at trial or on appeal from the unfavorable jury verdict.

In fact, Ms. Lusebrink did not assign error to the issue of alignment between ADA and the WLAD. She should be precluded from doing so now. *Rutter v. Rutter's Estate*, 59 Wn.2d 781, 787-88, 370 P.2d 862 (1962) ("argument unsupported by an assignment of error does not present an issue for review").

C. Ms. Lusebrink's Petition for Review should be denied because there was no legal error in Jury Instruction No. 11.

Ms. Lusebrink continues to condemn Instruction No. 11. Division I spent most of its analysis approving this instruction, which stated that it was Mr. Lusebrink's burden to prove:

(3) That the Kent School District failed to take affirmative measures to help her find and apply for another position, such as making known such job opportunities to her, and determining whether she was in fact qualified for those positions.

Lusebrink, 2014 WL 645364 at *4. (Emphasis in original.) The debate is centered upon the italicized language above. This Court should reject Ms. Lusebrink's claims that this instruction is "erroneous."

Ms. Lusebrink asserted that "the trial court instructed the jury that the District had a duty to take affirmative steps instruction requires affirmative steps to accommodate . . . but then listed passive conduct as examples." (Pet. Rev. at 16.) The challenged instruction itself does not list "passive conduct." Rather, it stated the law set forth in *Dean, supra*. *Lusebrink*, 2014 645364 at *4. The decision by Division I made this fact abundantly clear.

Ms. Lusebrink does not appear to acknowledge that law requires the jury to decide whether the District took affirmative measures to accommodate her. As pointed out below, Instruction No. 11 allowed Ms. Lusebrink to argue her accommodation theories and the jury decided she could not meet her burden of proof. *Lusebrink*, 2014 WL 645364 at *7. The jury's verdict should not be overturned just because Ms. Lusebrink does not like the result. *Washburn v. Beatt Equip. Co.*, 120 Wn.2d 246, 268–69 (1992) ("An appellate court will not disturb . . . a jury [verdict] unless it is outside the range of substantial evidence in the record, or shocks the conscience of the court, or appears to have been arrived at as a result of passion or prejudice").

D. Ms. Lusebrink's Petition for Review should be denied because there was no error in the trial court's denial of her JNOV.

Despite the jury's verdict otherwise, Ms. Lusebrink argues the District did not take any affirmative measures to accommodate her disability. Division I succinctly addressed Ms. Lusebrink's argument against the evidence:

Lusebrink also argues the district "took no affirmative measures whatsoever" to accommodate her disability. Substantial evidence permitted the jury to find otherwise... . We conclude there was sufficient evidence supporting the jury's determination that the district did not fail to take affirmative steps to reasonably accommodate Lusebrink's disability.

Lusebrink, 2014 WL 645364 at *7.

٠

Ms. Lusebrink now argues that Frisino v. Seattle School Dist. No.

1, 160 Wn.App. 765, 249 P.3d 1044 (2011), rev. denied 172 Wn.2d 1013,

259 P.3d 1109 (2011), gives the District a mandatory legal duty to

reassign her to an open position. (Pet. Rev. at 19.) In Frisino there was no

issue of reassignment to a different job.

It is not disputed that, with an accommodation to remove those environmental triggers, Frisino was qualified to perform the essential functions of her job [as a teacher]. Reassignment to a different type of job was not at issue.

160 Wn.App. at 778. (Emphasis added.)

IV. CONCLUSION

The jury rejected Ms. Lusebrink's argument that the District failed to reasonably accommodate her disability as required by the WLAD. Ms. Lusebrink had her day in court to attempt to convince a jury that the District took no affirmative measures whatsoever to accommodate her disability. Because there was substantial evidence for the jury to decide otherwise, Ms. Lusebrink's petition for review should be denied.